

Universität Regensburg Mathematik

The fermionic signature operator and Hadamard states in the presence of a plane electromagnetic wave

Felix Finster and Moritz Reintjes

Preprint Nr. 07/2016

THE FERMIONIC SIGNATURE OPERATOR AND HADAMARD STATES IN THE PRESENCE OF A PLANE ELECTROMAGNETIC WAVE

FELIX FINSTER AND MORITZ REINTJES

SEPTEMBER 2016

ABSTRACT. We give a non-perturbative construction of a distinguished state for the quantized Dirac field in Minkowski space in the presence of a time-dependent external field of the form of a plane electromagnetic wave. By explicit computation of the fermionic signature operator, it is shown that the Dirac operator has the strong mass oscillation property. We prove that the resulting fermionic projector state is a Hadamard state.

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Preliminaries	4
3.	The Dirac Equation in an Electromagnetic Wave and its Solution	7
4.	Decay in Null Directions	9
5.	The Fermionic Signature Operator	11
6.	The Fermionic Projector and Quantum States	15
7.	Integral Representation of the Fermionic Projector	15
8.	Hadamard Form of the Fermionic Projector	17
9.	Example: A Harmonic Plane Electromagnetic Wave	24
10.	Outlook	25
References		26

1. INTRODUCTION

In the canonical formulation of quantum field theory (QFT), the physical system is described by a vector of the Fock space, which in turn is built up from a ground state¹ by applying the creation operators of the particle and anti-particle states. For Dirac fermions in Minkowski space, a distinguished ground state is given by the vacuum state, whose construction involves a *frequency splitting*. In simple terms, one decomposes the solution space of the Dirac equation into the subspaces of solutions of positive and negative frequency (these subspaces can be described equivalently as the positive and negative spectral subspaces of the Dirac Hamiltonian). After reinterpreting the annihilation operators of the negative-frequency solutions as creation operators and vice versa, the vacuum state is defined as the unit vector which vanishes

 $^{^1\}mathrm{Here}$ by "ground state" we mean any state taken as the starting point of the Fock space construction.

when acted upon by the annihilation operators (for a formulation of this construction in the language of algebraic QFT see Section 6 below).

In this paper, we are concerned with the basic problem that in the *time-dependent* setting, there is no obvious choice for the ground state because frequency splitting can no longer be used. More specifically, we consider a massive Dirac field in Minkowski space in the presence of an *external electromagnetic field* of the form of a *plane wave* (i.e. an electromagnetic potential depending only on t + x). The physical situation we have in mind is that of a laser beam whose amplitude and frequency may be arbitrarily large. If one considers a short laser pulse, then the physical scenario can be described as a scattering process, with a unique ground state (= the vacuum state) before and after the interaction with the laser pulse takes place. However, in this setting of a scattering process, it is unclear how the quantum state is to be described while the interaction is present. The reason is that our system is strongly interacting, so that notions like "perturbations of states on the mass shell" are questionable. The situation becomes even more involved if, instead of a short laser pulse, one considers a laser beam present for all times, possibly with the amplitude and frequency changing in time. It is the main objective of this paper to show that even in such time-dependent situations without a prescribed asymptotics for large times, there is a distinguished ground state which is of Hadamard form.

We now give some more background on the problem and mention related works. The basic problem that frequency splitting cannot be used to obtain a decomposition of the Dirac solution space into two subspaces is sometimes referred to as the external field problem (see for example $[12, \S2.1.2]$). As a result, in the second-quantized description with Fock spaces, it is not only unclear which ground state to choose, but even more the ground state obtained from the negative spectral subspace of the Hamiltonian at a fixed time is no longer a vector of the Fock space built up in the Minkowsi vacuum or built up from the ground state at another time. This was first observed by Klaus and Scharf [22, 23] in the presence of a static external potential, and was later analyzed by Fierz in Scharf [9] in the time-dependent setting. This fact has severe consequences for the time evolution in Fock spaces. The mathematical results of Shale-Stinespring [28] and Ruijsenaars [25] show that a second-quantized time evolution cannot be implemented on a fixed Fock space, unless the spatial components of the electromagnetic potential are zero. A recent approach to tackle this problem is to work with time-dependent Fock spaces [5, 6]. Generally speaking, the freedom in choosing the ground state for the Fock space construction implies that the interpretation of the physical state in terms of particles and anti-particles depends on the observer. Thus, describing experiments involving particles or anti-particles, one must specify a physical model of the detector.

An alternative approach, which has proved to be fruitful in algebraic QFT in curved space-time, is provided by *microlocal analysis*. Here one makes use of the fact that for a free Dirac field, the quantum state is uniquely characterized by its two-point function (using Wick's theorem), being a bi-distribution in space-time. Characterizing the singularity structure of this two-point distribution with notions of microlocal analysis gives rise to the *Hadamard form* (for details see Section 8). The expansion of the twopoint distribution in the different orders of the singularities on the light cone is called *Hadamard expansion*. In the setting of Minkowski space to be considered here, the Hadamard expansion agrees with the *light-cone expansion* (see [11] or the introduction in the textbook [12, Section 2.2]). A quantum state whose two-point distribution is of Hadamard form is called *Hadamard state*. For Hadamard states, correlations of powers of Wick-ordered products are well-defined, making it possible to build up a perturbative QFT (see for example [8, 4] or the recent text book [24]). This is why Hadamard states are generally accepted as a class of physically sensible quantum states. Just as in the Fock space formalism, in the microlocal approach the particle interpretation depends on the observer. This is reflected mathematically by the fact that the Hadamard condition specifies the two-point distribution only up to smooth contributions. For a good introduction to free quantum fields in curved space-time we refer to [32, 19] or [2].

The *fermionic signature operator* introduced in [16, 17] (based on earlier perturbative constructions in [10]) provides a distinguished fermionic ground state in spacetime, referred to as the fermionic projector (FP) state. Here by "distinguished" we mean that the construction is covariant and gives rise to a unique state. In particular, the construction does not involve the choice of coordinates, gauges or reference frames. In an ultrastatic space-time of infinite lifetime, the FP state coincides with the ground state obtained from the usual frequency splitting in the reference frame of observer at rest (see [10, Section 5] and [17, Section 5]). In the time-dependent setting, however, the FP state cannot be associated to a local observer. Instead, it depends on the global geometry of space-time (for a more detailed account on the physical interpretation we refer to [12, Section 2.1.2] or the discussion of a scattering process in [10, Section 5]). In mathematical terms, the fermionic signature operator is a symmetric operator on the solution space of the massive Dirac equation in globally hyperbolic space-times. It encodes geometric information [13] and gives a new covariant method for obtaining Hadamard states [14]. The abstract construction in space-times of finite and infinite lifetime as given in [16, 17] opens up the research program to explore the fermionic signature operator in various space-times and to verify if the resulting FP states are Hadamard. So far, the fermionic signature operator has been studied in the examples of closed FRW space-times [16], ultrastatic space-times of infinite lifetime and de Sitter space-time [17], ultrastatic slab space-times [7] as well as for an external potential in Minkowski space which decays at infinity [14]. Moreover, as the first example involving a horizon, the Rindler space-time is considered in [15]. Finally, in [13] various twodimensional examples are analyzed. In the example of a space-time slab, it is shown in [7] that the resulting FP state is in general not of Hadamard form, but that one gets Hadamard states if the construction is "softened" by a smooth cutoff function in time. On the other hand, in ultrastatic space-times of infinite lifetime [17, Section 5], the two-dimensional Rindler space-time [15, Section 11] as well as for an external potential in Minkowski space [14, Theorem 1.3], the resulting FP state is proven to be of Hadamard form. These results lead to the conjecture that the FP state should be of Hadamard form provided that space-time is "sufficiently smooth" on its boundaries and at its asymptotic ends. In order to challenge and quantify this conjecture, one needs to construct and analyze the fermionic signature operator in detail in different space-times.

In the present paper, the fermionic signature operator is constructed for the first time in the presence of an external potential which is neither static nor decays for large time. After the necessary preliminaries (Section 2), the Dirac equation in the presence of a plane electromagnetic wave is considered (Section 3). Clearly, using the separation ansatz

$$\psi(t, x, y, z) = e^{-ik_2 y - ik_3 z} e^{-iu(t-x)} \chi_{k_2, k_3, u}(t+x), \qquad (1.1)$$

the Dirac equation can be reduced to a system of ODEs. Moreover, since t + x is a lightlike direction, the resulting scalar ODE is of first order, making it possible to solve the equation explicitly by integration. This structure suggests that one should consider the Dirac equation as an evolution equation which maps initial data on the null surface $t + x = \text{const}_1$ to another such surface $t + x = \text{const}_2$. In order to establish such a formulation, one needs to show that the spatially compact solutions of the Dirac equation have suitable decay properties when restricted to the surfaces t + x = const.This decay in null directions is derived in Section 4. The first step is to show that for fixed k_2 and k_3 , the Dirac equation in the tx-plane can be reduced to a two-dimensional Klein-Gordon equation (without external potentials) by transforming to a suitable curvilinear coordinate system (see (3.14)). This makes it possible to apply well-known decay results for the massive Klein-Gordon equation in Minkowski space. We thus obtain rapid decay in null directions (Lemma 4.1), and we can rewrite the scalar product on the solution space in terms of integrals over the null surfaces t + x = const(Lemma 4.2). In Section 5, it is shown that the Dirac equation has the strong mass oscillation property and that the resulting fermionic signature operator simply is the multiplication operator by the sign of the separation constant u in (1.1) (Theorem 5.5). In Section 6, we review the construction of the fermionic projector and the FP state (Theorem 6.1). The just-mentioned result of Theorem 5.5 can be understood immediately from the fact that without electromagnetic potential, the variable u is positive on the upper mass shell and negative on the lower mass shell, giving agreement with the fermionic signature operator as computed in [14, Section 3]. Moreover, the FP state coincides with the state obtained by frequency splitting in the momentum variable uin [18, Section 5.2]. One should keep in mind that, if an electromagnetic potential is present, solutions for negative u may well have arbitrarily large positive frequencies (as is illustrated in Figure 3). The delicate point of our analysis is to show that, despite this effect, the FP state is a Hadamard state (Corollary 8.2). For the proof, we first derive an integral representation of the fermionic projector (Section 7) and study it with methods of microlocal analysis (Section 8). Our constructions and results are illustrated in Section 9 in the explicit example of a harmonic plane electromagnetic wave (9.1). It is a main advantage of our construction that it also applies in situations without symmetries as obtained for example by adding an electromagnetic potential with suitable decay properties at infinity. This is explained in Section 10.

2. Preliminaries

Let \mathcal{M} be Minkowski space, a four-dimensional real vector space endowed with an inner product of signature (+ - - -). We let $S\mathcal{M}$ be the spinor bundle on \mathcal{M} and denote the smooth sections of the spinor bundle by $C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}, S\mathcal{M})$. Similarly, $C_0^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}, S\mathcal{M})$ denotes the smooth sections with compact support. The fibres $S_p\mathcal{M}$ are endowed with an inner product of signature (2, 2) which we denote by $\prec .|.\succ_p$. An external potential is a multiplication operator $\mathcal{B}(p) \in L(S_p\mathcal{M})$, which we assume to be smooth and symmetric with respect to the spin scalar product, i.e.

 $\mathcal{B} \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{L}(S\mathcal{M})) \quad \text{with} \quad \prec \mathcal{B}\phi | \psi \succ_{p} = \prec \phi | \mathcal{B}\psi \succ_{p} \quad \forall \phi, \psi \in S_{p}\mathcal{M} .$

The Dirac matrices γ^j , j = 0, ..., 3, are symmetric linear operators on $\prec .|.\succ_p$ which satisfy the anti-commutation relations

$$\{\gamma^i, \gamma^j\} \equiv \gamma^i \gamma^j + \gamma^j \gamma^i = \eta^{ij} \, \mathbb{1}_{S_p \mathcal{M}} \,, \tag{2.1}$$

where $\eta = \text{diag}(1, -1, -1, -1)$ is the Minkowski metric. The Dirac operator is defined by

$$\mathcal{D} := i\gamma^j \partial_j + \mathcal{B} : C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}, S\mathcal{M}) \to C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}, S\mathcal{M}) .$$
(2.2)

For a given real parameter m > 0 (the "rest mass"), the Dirac equation reads

$$\left(\mathcal{D} - m\right)\psi_m = 0. \tag{2.3}$$

In the Cauchy problem, one seeks for a solution of the Dirac equation with initial data $\psi_{\mathcal{N}}$ prescribed on a given Cauchy surface \mathcal{N} . Thus in the smooth setting,

$$(\mathcal{D}-m)\psi_m = 0, \qquad \psi_m|_{\mathcal{N}} = \psi_{\mathcal{N}} \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{N}, S\mathcal{M})$$

This Cauchy problem has a unique solution $\psi_m \in C^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}, S\mathcal{M})$. This can be seen by considering energy estimates for symmetric hyperbolic systems or by constructing the Green's kernel (see for example [21] and [3]). These methods also show that the Dirac equation is causal, meaning that the solution of the Cauchy problem only depends on the initial data in the causal past or future. In particular, if $\psi_{\mathcal{N}}$ has compact support, the solution ψ_m also has compact support on any other Cauchy hypersurface. This leads us to consider solutions ψ_m in the class $C_{\rm sc}^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}, S\mathcal{M})$ of smooth sections with spatially compact support. On solutions in this class, one introduces the scalar product $(.|.)_{\mathcal{N}}$ by

$$(\psi_m | \phi_m)_{\mathcal{N}} = 2\pi \int_{\mathcal{N}} \prec \psi_m | \gamma^j \nu_j \, \phi_m \succ_p \, d\mu_{\mathcal{N}}(p) \,, \tag{2.4}$$

where ν is the future-directed normal. Due to current conservation, this scalar product does not depend on the choice of the Cauchy surface \mathcal{N} (for details see [16, Section 2]). Therefore, we may omit the subscript \mathcal{N} and simply denote the scalar product (2.4) by (.|.). Forming the completion, we obtain the Hilbert space (\mathcal{H}_m , (.|.)).

The retarded and advanced Green's operators s_m^{\wedge} and s_m^{\vee} are mappings (for details see for example [3])

$$s_m^\wedge, s_m^\vee$$
 : $C_0^\infty(\mathcal{M}, S\mathcal{M}) \to C_{\mathrm{sc}}^\infty(\mathcal{M}, S\mathcal{M})$.

Their difference is the so-called causal fundamental solution k_m ,

$$k_m := \frac{1}{2\pi i} \left(s_m^{\vee} - s_m^{\wedge} \right) : C_0^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}, S\mathcal{M}) \to C_{\mathrm{sc}}^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}, S\mathcal{M}) \cap \mathcal{H}_m .$$
(2.5)

This operator can be represented as integral operators with a distributional kernel,

$$(k_m\phi)(x) = \int_{\mathcal{M}} k_m(x,y) \phi(y) d^4y$$

For the following construction, the mass parameter in the Dirac equation m will not be fixed. Instead, it can vary in an open interval $I := (m_L, m_R)$ with $m_L, m_R > 0$. We denote the families of smooth wave functions with spatially compact support, which are also compactly supported in I, by $C_{sc,0}^{\infty}(\mathcal{M} \times I, S\mathcal{M})$. The space of families of Dirac solutions in the class $C_{sc,0}^{\infty}(\mathcal{M} \times I, S\mathcal{M})$ are denoted by \mathcal{H}^{∞} . On \mathcal{H}^{∞} we introduce the scalar product

$$(\psi|\phi) = \int_{I} (\psi_m|\phi_m)_m \, dm \, ,$$

where dm is the Lebesgue measure (and $\psi = (\psi_m)_{m \in I}$ and $\phi = (\phi_m)_{m \in I}$ are families of Dirac solutions for a variable mass parameter). Forming the completion yields the Hilbert space $(\mathcal{H}, (.|.))$ with norm ||.||. Then \mathcal{H}^{∞} can be regarded as the subspace

$$\mathcal{H}^{\infty} = C^{\infty}_{\mathrm{sc},0}(\mathcal{M} \times I, S\mathcal{M}) \cap \mathcal{H}.$$
(2.6)

Integrating ψ_m over *m* gives the operator

$$\mathfrak{p} : \mathfrak{H}^{\infty} \to C^{\infty}_{\mathrm{sc}}(\mathcal{M}, S\mathcal{M}) , \qquad \mathfrak{p}\psi = \int_{I} \psi_{m} \, dm$$

For clarity, we point out that $\mathfrak{p}\psi$ no longer satisfies a Dirac equation. Finally, on Dirac wave functions (not solutions of the Dirac equation) we introduce the Lorentz invariant inner product

$$\langle \psi | \phi \rangle = \int_{\mathcal{M}} \overline{\psi(x)} \phi(x) \, d^4 x \,,$$
 (2.7)

whenever the integral on the right converges.

The following notion was introduced in [17], and we refer the reader to this paper for more details.

Definition 2.1. The Dirac operator \mathcal{D} has the strong mass oscillation property in the interval $I = (m_L, m_R)$ with domain \mathcal{H}^{∞} if there is a constant c > 0 such that

$$|\langle \mathfrak{p}\psi|\mathfrak{p}\phi\rangle| \le c \int_{I} \|\phi_{m}\|_{m} \|\psi_{m}\|_{m} \, dm \qquad \text{for all } \psi, \phi \in \mathcal{H}^{\infty} \,. \tag{2.8}$$

The following theorem is proved in [17, Theorem 4.2, Proposition 4.3 and Theorem 4.7].

Theorem 2.2. Assume that the Dirac operator \mathcal{D} has the strong mass oscillation property in the interval $I = (m_L, m_R)$. Then there exists a family of linear operators $(\mathfrak{S}_m)_{m \in I}$ with $\mathfrak{S}_m \in L(\mathfrak{H}_m)$ which are uniformly bounded,

$$\sup_{m\in I} \|\mathfrak{S}_m\| < \infty$$

such that

$$\langle \mathfrak{p}\psi|\mathfrak{p}\phi\rangle = \int_{I} (\psi_m \,|\, \mathfrak{S}_m \,\phi_m)_m \,dm \qquad \text{for all }\psi,\phi\in\mathfrak{H}^\infty \,.$$
 (2.9)

The operator S_m is uniquely determined for every $m \in I$ by demanding that for all $\psi, \phi \in \mathbb{H}^{\infty}$, the functions $(\psi_m | S_m \phi_m)_m$ are continuous in m. Moreover, the operator S_m is the same for all choices of I containing m. Finally, there is a bidistribution $\mathcal{P} \in \mathcal{D}'(\mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{M})$ such that the operator P defined by

$$P := -\chi_{(-\infty,0)}(\mathfrak{S}_m) \, k_m \, : \, C_0^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}, S\mathcal{M}) \to \mathcal{H}_m$$

has the representation

$$\langle \phi | P\psi \rangle = \mathcal{P}(\overline{\phi} \otimes \psi) \quad \text{for all } \phi, \psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}, S\mathcal{M})$$

(where $\overline{\phi} = \phi^{\dagger} \gamma^0$ is the usual adjoint spinor).

The operator P is referred to as the **fermionic projector**. We also use the standard notation with an integral kernel,

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \phi | P\psi \rangle &= \iint_{\mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{M}} \prec \phi(x) \, | \, \mathcal{P}(x, y) \, \psi(y) \succ_x d^4x \, d^4y \\ (P\psi)(x) &= \int_{\mathcal{M}} \mathcal{P}(x, y) \, \psi(y) \, d^4y \, . \end{aligned}$$

3. The Dirac Equation in an Electromagnetic Wave and its Solution

In the presence of an external electromagnetic field, the potential \mathcal{B} in the Dirac operator (2.2) has the form $\mathcal{B} = \gamma^j A_j$, where A_j is the electromagnetic four-potential. We assume that the electromagnetic potential satisfies the Maxwell equations in the Lorenz gauge, i.e.

$$\Box A^{j} = 0 \quad \text{with} \quad \partial_{j} A^{j} = 0.$$
(3.1)

Moreover, denoting the coordinates of Minkowski space by p = (t, x, y, z), we consider the situation where the electromagnetic potential is a plane wave,

$$A = A(t+x) . (3.2)$$

We point out that we do not assume the wave to be homogeneous or harmonic (i.e. it is not of the form $A = A_0 \sin(\omega(t + x) + \alpha))$. In particular, our ansatz allows for a description of a laser pulse as mentioned in the introduction. Clearly, the plane wave ansatz satisfies the first equation in (3.1). The Lorenz gauge condition is

$$0 = \partial^{j} A_{j}(t+x) = \partial_{t} A_{0}(t+x) - \partial_{x} A_{1}(t+x) = (A_{0} - A_{1})'(t+x) ,$$

implying that $A_0 - A_1 =: c$ is a real constant. By a gauge transformation $A \to A + \partial \Lambda$ with $\Lambda = -ct$, we can arrange that this constant is zero, so that $A_0 = A_1 = f(t+x)$. Performing another gauge transformation with $\Lambda(t+x) = -\int^{t+x} f(\tau) d\tau$ being an indefinite integral of f, we can arrange that $A_0 = A_1 = 0$ everywhere. Then the Dirac equation (2.3) takes the form

$$\left(i\gamma^{j}\partial_{j}+\gamma^{2}A_{2}+\gamma^{3}A_{3}-m\right)\psi_{m}=0.$$
(3.3)

As first observed in [31], the Dirac equation (2.3) can be solved by separation and integration. We now recall this construction in a form suitable for our purposes (for an alternative method of solving the squared Dirac equation see [18, Section 5.2]). We introduce the null coordinates

$$s = t + x \qquad \text{and} \qquad l = t - x \tag{3.4}$$

and employ the separation ansatz

$$\psi_m(t, x, y, z) = e^{-i(k_2 y + k_3 z)} \chi(s, l) \quad \text{for } k_2, k_3 \in \mathbb{R} .$$
 (3.5)

Then a direct computation using

$$\begin{split} \left(\gamma^0 \partial_t + \gamma^1 \partial_x\right) \chi(s,l) &= \left(2N_+ \partial_s + 2N_- \partial_l\right) \chi(s,l) \\ \text{with} \qquad N_\pm := \frac{1}{2} \left(\gamma^0 \pm \gamma^1\right) \end{split}$$

shows that the Dirac equation (3.3) becomes

$$\left(2iN_{+}\partial_{s} + 2iN_{-}\partial_{l} + \sum_{j=2,3}\gamma^{j}(k_{j} + A_{j}(s)) - m\right)\chi(s,l) = 0.$$
 (3.6)

By the anti-commutation relations (2.1), one sees that

$$N_{+}^{2} = 0 = N_{-}^{2}$$
 and $\{N_{-}, N_{+}\} = 1$, (3.7)

whereas the operators Π_{\pm} defined by

$$\Pi_{-} := N_{-}N_{+}$$
 and $\Pi_{+} := N_{+}N_{-}$ (3.8)

are idempotent and satisfy the relation $\Pi_{-} + \Pi_{+} = \{N_{-}, N_{+}\} = \mathbb{1}$. Thus multiplying (3.6) by N_{+} from the left and using the anti-commutation relations yields the equation

$$\left(2iN_{+}N_{-}\partial_{l} - \sum_{j=2,3}\gamma^{j}(k_{j} + A_{j}(s))N_{+} - N_{+}m\right)\chi(s,l) = 0.$$

Multiplying by N_{-} from the left and using that

$$N_{-}N_{+}N_{-} = \{N_{-}, N_{+}\}N_{-} = N_{-},$$

we write the previous equation as

$$-2i\frac{\partial}{\partial l}N_{-}\chi(s,l) = \left(\sum_{j=2,3}\gamma^{j}\left(k_{j}+A_{j}(s)\right)-m\right)\Pi_{-}\chi(s,l).$$
(3.9)

On the other hand, multiplying the Dirac equation (3.6) by N_{-} gives

$$2i\frac{\partial}{\partial s}\Pi_{-}\chi(s,l) = \left(\sum_{j=2,3}\gamma^{j}(k_{j}+A_{j}(s))+m\right)N_{-}\chi(s,l).$$

Differentiating with respect to l and using (3.9) gives the PDE

$$4 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial s \partial l} \Pi_{-\chi}(s,l) = -\left(\sum_{j=2,3} \left(k_j + A_j(s)\right)^2 + m^2\right) \Pi_{-\chi}(s,l) .$$
(3.10)

We now introduce the function $\zeta(s)$ by

$$\zeta(s) = \int_0^s \left(\sum_{j=2,3} \left(k_j + A_j(s') \right)^2 + m^2 \right) ds' \, .$$

Since

$$\zeta'(s) = \sum_{j=2,3} \left(k_j + A_j(s) \right)^2 + m^2 \ge m^2 > 0 , \qquad (3.11)$$

the function ζ is strictly monotone increasing and thus a diffeomorphism from \mathbb{R} to \mathbb{R} . Therefore, we can take ζ as a new null coordinate. We denote the inverse transformation by $s = \zeta^{-1} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$. Using the transformation

$$\partial_s = \frac{\partial \zeta}{\partial s} \, \partial_\zeta \; ,$$

in the new coordinates (ζ, l) , the PDE (3.10) simplifies to

$$4\partial_{\zeta}\partial_{l}\Pi_{-}\chi\bigl(s(\zeta),l\bigr) = -\Pi_{-}\chi\bigl(s(\zeta),l\bigr) .$$
(3.12)

In analogy to (3.4), we now introduce variables T and X by

$$\zeta = T + X$$
 and $l = T - X$.

Then

$$T = \frac{\zeta + l}{2}, \qquad X = \frac{\zeta - l}{2}$$

$$\partial_{\zeta} = \frac{\partial T}{\partial \zeta} \partial_{T} + \frac{\partial X}{\partial \zeta} \partial_{X} = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{T} + \partial_{X})$$

$$\partial_{l} = \frac{\partial T}{\partial l} \partial_{T} + \frac{\partial X}{\partial l} \partial_{X} = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{T} - \partial_{X}).$$
(3.13)



FIGURE 1. The support of $\Pi_{-\chi}$ on the surface $\mathcal{N} = \{l = -\zeta(s)\}$.

As a consequence, rewriting the PDE (3.12) in the variables T and X, we obtain the two-dimensional Klein-Gordon equation of mass one,

$$\left(\partial_T^2 - \partial_X^2 + 1\right) \Pi_{-} \chi = 0.$$
 (3.14)

4. Decay in Null Directions

In order to formulate the Dirac equation as an evolution equation in lightlike directions, we need suitable decay properties of solutions in lightlike directions. In the next lemma, we show that solutions decay even rapidly.

Lemma 4.1. Let $\Pi_{-}\chi(s,l)$ be a solution of the Dirac equation (3.10) for smooth, compactly supported initial data at t = 0,

$$\Pi_{-\chi|_{t=0}}, \ \partial_t \Pi_{-\chi|_{t=0}} \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}^4) .$$

$$(4.1)$$

Then the solution decays rapidly in l, uniformly in s, i.e. for all N > 0 there exists a constant c such that

$$\sup_{l \in \mathbb{R}} |l|^N \left\| \Pi_{-}\chi(s,l) \right\| < c \quad \text{for all } s \in \mathbb{R}$$

(where $\|.\|$ is any norm on \mathbb{C}^4). The constant c can be chosen locally uniformly in the separation constants k_2 and k_3 .

Proof. Due to finite propagation speed, the solution of the Cauchy problem with initial data (4.1) is in $C_{\rm sc}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{1,1},\mathbb{C}^4)$. Let \mathcal{N} be the surface $\{T=0\}$ (with T as in (3.13)). In view of (3.13), this surface can be described as a graph over s,

$$l = -\zeta(s) \; .$$

In particular, the surface is smooth. Moreover, the inequality (3.11) gives the bound $l'(s) \leq -m^2$ for the slope of this graph (see Figure 1). Clearly, the straight line $l = -m^2 s$ is a Cauchy surface in $\mathbb{R}^{1,1}$. Therefore, the intersection of this straight line with the support of $\Pi_{-\chi}$ is compact and thus contained in the interval $[-s_0, s_0]$ for sufficiently large $s_0 > 0$. Using that \mathcal{N} lies below this straight line if s > 0 and lies above this line if s < 0 (see again Figure 1), it follows that also the curve \mathcal{N} does not intersect the support of $\Pi_{-\chi}$ for all s outside this interval, i.e.

$$\mathcal{N} \cap \operatorname{supp} \Pi_{-} \chi \subset \left\{ \left(s, -\zeta(s) \right) \text{ with } s \in [-s_0, s_0] \right\}.$$



FIGURE 2. Current conservation in a domain with null boundaries.

We conclude that the wave function $\Pi_{-}\chi$ has compact support on \mathcal{N} ,

$$\Pi_{-\chi}|_{\mathcal{N}}, \ \partial_{T}\Pi_{-\chi}|_{\mathcal{N}} \in C_{0}^{\infty}(\mathcal{N}, \mathbb{C}^{4}).$$

$$(4.2)$$

We next regard $\Pi_{-\chi}$ as the solution of the Cauchy problem of the Klein-Gordon equation (3.14) with initial data (4.2). As shown in [20, Theorem 7.2.1], this solution decays rapidly in null directions (see also the more detailed estimates in [30, Section 4.4]), in the sense that for all N > 0 there exists a constant c such that

$$\sup_{l \in \mathbb{R}} |l|^N \left\| \Pi_{-\chi} (s(\zeta), l) \right\| < c \quad \text{for all } \zeta \in \mathbb{R}.$$

This gives the desired estimate. This estimate is locally uniform in k_2 and k_3 because the curve \mathcal{N} as well as the subsequent estimates depend smoothly on these separation constants. Thus for any compact $K \subset \mathbb{R}^2$, the constant c can be chosen uniformly for all $(k_2, k_3) \in K$.

Lemma 4.2. For all $\psi, \phi \in \mathcal{H}_m$ and $s \in \mathbb{R}$, the scalar product (2.4) can be expressed as the following integral over the null hypersurface $\{s = const\},\$

$$(\psi|\phi) = 2\pi \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \prec \Pi_- \psi |\gamma^0 \Pi_- \phi \succ_{(s,l,y,z)} dl \, dy \, dz \,. \tag{4.3}$$

Proof. In view of the polarization identity, we may choose $\phi = \psi$. Moreover, using a denseness argument, it suffices to consider a solution ψ corresponding to Cauchy data $\psi_0 = \psi|_{t=0}$ which is smooth and compactly supported in x, and whose Fourier transform in y and z is also compactly supported, i.e.

$$\hat{\psi}_0(x,k_2,k_3) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \psi_0(x,y,z) \, e^{ik_2y + ik_3z} \, dy \, dz \; \in \; C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^3,\mathbb{C}^4)$$

Then the solution can be represented as

$$\psi(t, x, y, z) = \int_{K} e^{-ik_2 y - ik_3 z} \chi_{k_2, k_3}(s, l) \, dk_2 \, dk_3 \, ,$$

where the subset $K \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ is compact.

We choose an open interval J such that $\operatorname{supp} \psi(0, ., y, z) \subset J$ for all $y, z \in \mathbb{R}$. We choose the sets Ω_1 and Ω_2 as in Figure 2. Then, due to Dirac current conservation,

$$0 = \int_{\Omega_1} \partial_j \prec \psi |\gamma^j \psi \succ d^4 x - \int_{\Omega_2} \partial_j \prec \psi |\gamma^j \psi \succ d^4 x$$

= $\frac{1}{2\pi} (\psi |\psi) - \int_{\mathcal{C}_s} \prec \psi |\gamma_i \psi \succ d\mu^i_{\mathcal{C}_s} - \int_{\mathcal{R}_l} \prec \psi |\gamma_i \psi \succ d\mu^i_{\mathcal{R}_l} + \int_{\mathcal{R}_{-l}} \prec \psi |\gamma_i \psi \succ d\mu^i_{\mathcal{R}_{-l}}, \quad (4.4)$

where in the last line we applied the Gauss divergence theorem and made use of the fact that ψ vanishes identically on the boundary components \mathcal{C}_{-} and \mathcal{C}_{+} . If the boundary were space-like, the factors $d\mu^i$ could be written as the future-directed unit normal ν^i times the volume measure on the boundary surface. In our setting of null boundaries, the situation is a bit more involved because the normal is a null vector tangential to the surface, which cannot be normalized. The correct expressions for the $d\mu^i$ are obtained most easily using Fubini and the fundamental theorem of calculus. For example, the boundary term on \mathcal{C}_s is computed by

$$0 = \int_{\{t+x\leq s\}} \partial_{j} \prec \psi |\gamma^{j}\psi \succ d^{4}x = \int_{\{t+x\leq s\}} \left(\partial_{t} \prec \psi |\gamma^{0}\psi \succ + \partial_{x} \prec \psi |\gamma^{1}\psi \succ\right) d^{4}x$$

$$= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dy \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dz \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dx \left(\int_{-\infty}^{s-x} \partial_{t} \prec \psi |\gamma^{0}\psi \succ dt\right)$$

$$+ \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dy \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dz \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \left(\int_{-\infty}^{s-t} \partial_{x} \prec \psi |\gamma^{1}\psi \succ dx\right)$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \prec \psi |\gamma^{0}\psi \succ|_{t=s-x} dx dy dz + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \prec \psi |\gamma^{1}\psi \succ|_{x=s-t} dt dy dz$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \prec \psi |N_{+}\psi \succ dl dy dz, \qquad (4.5)$$

showing that $\gamma_i d\mu_{\mathcal{C}_s}^i = N_+ dl dy dz$. The other boundary integrals can be computed similarly. The boundary term in (4.5) can be rewritten as follows,

where in the last step we used the identity $N_{+}\Pi_{-} = (\gamma^{0} - N_{-})\Pi_{-} = \gamma^{0}\Pi_{-}$. Using this formula in (4.4), we obtain

$$\frac{1}{2\pi}(\psi|\psi) = \int_{\mathcal{C}_s} \langle \Pi_-\psi|\gamma^0 \Pi_-\psi \rangle dldydz + \int_{\mathcal{R}_l} \langle \psi|\gamma_i\psi \rangle d\mu^i_{\mathcal{R}_l} - \int_{\mathcal{R}_{-l}} \langle \psi|\gamma_i\psi \rangle d\mu^i_{\mathcal{R}_{-l}}.$$
 (4.7)

In view of Lemma 4.1, the solutions $\Pi_{-\chi_{k_2,k_3}}$ all decay rapidly in l, uniformly for all $(k_2, k_3) \in K$. This shows that $\Pi_{-\psi}$ decays rapidly in l, uniformly in y and z. Therefore, in the limit $l \to \infty$ in (4.7), the integrals over \mathcal{R}_{-l} and \mathcal{R}_l vanish, whereas the integral over \mathcal{C}_s goes over to the integral over the null hyperplane $\{s = \text{const}\}$. This gives the result. \Box

5. The Fermionic Signature Operator

After these preparations, we are in the position to compute the fermionic signature operator. It is most convenient to also separate the l-dependence with a plane-wave ansatz, i.e.

$$\psi(t, x, y, z) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} e^{-ik_2 y - ik_3 z} e^{-iul} \chi_{k_2, k_3, u}(s) \, du \, dk_2 \, dk_3 \,. \tag{5.1}$$

11

Comparing this ansatz with (3.5), one sees that $\chi(s, l) = e^{-iul} \chi(s)$. Using this formula in (3.9) and (3.10), the Dirac equation reduces to one algebraic equation and one ODE,

$$2uN_{-}\chi(s,l) = -\left(\sum_{j=2,3}\gamma^{j}(k_{j} + A_{j}(s)) - m\right)\Pi_{-}\chi(s,l)$$
(5.2)

$$4iu \frac{d}{ds} \Pi_{-} \chi_{k_2, k_3, u}(s) = \left(\sum_{j=2,3} \left(k_j + A_j(s) \right)^2 + m^2 \right) \Pi_{-} \chi_{k_2, k_3, u}(s) .$$
 (5.3)

Integrating the last equation for initial data on the null surface $\mathcal{N} := \{s = 0\}$, we obtain the unique solution

$$\Pi_{-\chi_{k_2,k_3,u}}(s) = \exp\left(-\frac{i}{4u}\int_0^s \left(\sum_{j=2,3} \left(k_j + A_j(s')\right)^2 + m^2\right) ds'\right) \Pi_{-\chi_{k_2,k_3,u}}(0) .$$
(5.4)

We next express the scalar product in terms of the spinor $\chi_{k_2,k_3,u}(s)$ in the separation ansatz (5.1).

Lemma 5.1. For any $s \in \mathbb{R}$, the scalar product can be written as

$$(\psi|\phi) = (2\pi)^4 \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \forall \Pi_- \chi_{k_2,k_3,u}(s) | \gamma^0 \Pi_- \chi_{k_2,k_3,u}(s) \succ du \, dk_2 \, dk_3 \, .$$

Proof. The formula follows immediately by substituting the ansatz (5.1) into (4.3) and applying Plancherel's theorem.

The remaining task is to compute the space-time inner product in (2.7). To this end, we need to consider families of Dirac solution $(\psi_m)_{m \in I}$ for a varying parameter in an interval $I = (m_L, m_R)$ with $0 < m_L, m_R$. We again use the separation ansatz (5.1), but now indicate the dependence on the mass parameter by a superscript m,

$$\psi_m(t, x, y, z) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} e^{-ik_2 y - ik_3 z} e^{-iul} \chi^m_{k_2, k_3, u}(s) \, du \, dk_2 \, dk_3 \,. \tag{5.5}$$

Then, again using Plancherel's theorem,

$$\langle \mathfrak{p}\psi|\mathfrak{p}\phi\rangle = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} \langle \mathfrak{p}\psi|\mathfrak{p}\phi\rangle ds \, dl \, dy \, dz$$

$$= 4\pi^3 \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} \langle \mathfrak{p}\chi_{k_2,k_3,u}(s) | \mathfrak{p}\chi_{k_2,k_3,u}(s)\rangle ds \, du \, dk_2 \, dk_3$$

$$= 4\pi^3 \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} \left(\int_I dm \int_I dm' \langle \chi_{k_2,k_3,u}^m(s) | \chi_{k_2,k_3,u}^{m'}(s)\rangle \right) ds \, du \, dk_2 \, dk_3 , \quad (5.6)$$

where

$$\mathfrak{p}\chi_{k_2,k_3,u}(s) := \int_I \chi^m_{k_2,k_3,u}(s) \, dm$$

In the next lemma we rewrite the integrand in (5.6) in a more convenient form.

Lemma 5.2. The spinor $\chi^m_{k_2,k_3,u}(s)$ in the separation ansatz (5.5) satisfies the relations

$$2u \prec \chi^m_{k_2,k_3,u}(s) \mid \chi^{m'}_{k_2,k_3,u}(s) \succ$$

= $(m+m') e^{\frac{i}{4u} (m^2 - m'^2)s} \prec \Pi_- \chi^m_{k_2,k_3,u}(0) \mid \gamma^0 \Pi_- \chi^{m'}_{k_2,k_3,u}(0) \succ$.

We remark for clarity that for u = 0, this equation is trivially satisfied because the spinors $\Pi_{-\chi_{k_2,k_3,u}}^m(0)$ and $\Pi_{-\chi_{k_2,k_3,u}}^{m'}(0)$ vanish in view of the algebraic equation (5.2), noting that the matrix $\sum_{j=2,3} \gamma^j (k_j + A_j(s)) - m$ is invertible (with its inverse being a multiple of $\sum_{j=2,3} \gamma^j (k_j + A_j(s)) + m$; see the computation before (3.10)).

Proof of Lemma 5.2. For ease of notation, we omit the indices k_2 , k_3 , u as well as the argument s. Then, similar as in (4.6), we obtain

Using the abbreviation $\mathcal{A} \equiv \sum_{j=2,3} \gamma^j (k_j + A_j)$, the algebraic equation (5.2) can be written as

$$2u N_{-}\chi^{m} = -(\mathcal{A} - m) \Pi_{-}\chi^{m}.$$

Using this equation in (5.7) gives

$$2u \prec \chi^{m} | \chi^{m'} \succ = - \prec \gamma^{0} (\mathcal{A} - m) \Pi_{-} \chi^{m} | \Pi_{-} \chi^{m'} \succ - \prec \Pi_{-} \chi^{m} | \gamma^{0} (\mathcal{A} - m') \Pi_{-} \chi^{m'} \succ$$

= $(m + m') \prec \Pi_{-} \chi^{m} | \gamma^{0} \Pi_{-} \chi^{m'} \succ$, (5.8)

where in the last line we used that \mathcal{A} is symmetric with respect to the spin scalar product and anti-commutes with γ^0 .

We next work out the s-dependence. Writing (5.4) in the shorter form

$$\Pi_{-}\chi_{k_{2},k_{3},u}(s) = e^{-\frac{i}{4u}\int_{0}^{s} \left(-\mathcal{A}^{2}+m^{2}\right)} \Pi_{-}\chi_{k_{2},k_{3},u}(0) ,$$

we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} &\prec \chi_{k_{2},k_{3},u}^{m}(s) \mid \chi_{k_{2},k_{3},u}^{m'}(s) \succ \\ &= e^{\frac{i}{4u} \int_{0}^{s} \left(-\mathcal{A}^{2} + m^{2} \right)} e^{-\frac{i}{4u} \int_{0}^{s} \left(-\mathcal{A}^{2} + m'^{2} \right)} \prec \chi_{k_{2},k_{3},u}^{m}(0) \mid \chi_{k_{2},k_{3},u}^{m'}(0) \succ \\ &= e^{\frac{i}{4u} \left(m^{2} - m'^{2} \right) s} \prec \chi_{k_{2},k_{3},u}^{m}(0) \mid \chi_{k_{2},k_{3},u}^{m'}(0) \succ . \end{aligned}$$

Applying (5.8) gives the result.

Using the formula of this lemma in (5.6) and formally exchanging the integrals, one can carry out the *s*-integration using the distributional relation

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{\frac{i}{4u} (m^2 - m'^2)s} \, ds = 2\pi \, \delta\left(\frac{m^2 - m'^2}{4u}\right).$$

In the next lemma we give a rigorous justification of this formal computation.

Lemma 5.3. For any test function $\eta \in C_0^{\infty}(I \times I)$,

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} ds \int_{I} dm \int_{I} dm' (m+m') e^{\frac{i}{4u} (m^{2}-m'^{2})s} \eta(m,m') = 8\pi |u| \int_{I} \eta(m,m) dm.$$

Proof. We insert a convergence-generating factor $e^{-\varepsilon s^2}$, interchange the integrals, and carry out the s-integration by a Gaussian integral,

$$\begin{split} &\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} ds \int_{I} dm \int_{I} dm' \left(m+m'\right) e^{\frac{i}{4u} \left(m^{2}-m'^{2}\right)s} \eta\left(m,m'\right) \\ &= \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-\varepsilon s^{2}} ds \int_{I} dm \int_{I} dm' \left(m+m'\right) e^{\frac{i}{4u} \left(m^{2}-m'^{2}\right)s} \eta\left(m,m'\right) \\ &= (m+m') \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \int_{I} dm \int_{I} dm' \eta\left(m,m'\right) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-\varepsilon s^{2}} e^{\frac{i}{4u} \left(m^{2}-m'^{2}\right)s} ds \\ &= (m+m') \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \int_{I} dm \int_{I} dm' \eta\left(m,m'\right) \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{\varepsilon}} \exp\left(-\frac{(m^{2}-m'^{2})^{2}}{64u^{2}\varepsilon}\right). \end{split}$$

Now the limit $\varepsilon \to 0$ can be carried out in the distributional sense to obtain

$$= (m+m') \int_{I} dm \int_{I} dm' \eta(m,m') 2\pi \,\delta\left(\frac{m^{2}-m'^{2}}{4u}\right)$$
$$= (m+m') \int_{I} dm \int_{I} dm' \,\eta(m,m') 2\pi \,\frac{4|u|}{m+m'} \,\delta(m-m') \,.$$

This concludes the proof.

Using Lemmas 5.2 and 5.3 in (5.6) immediately gives the following result.

Corollary 5.4. For all $\psi, \phi \in C^{\infty}_{sc,0}(\mathcal{M} \times I, S\mathcal{M})$,

$$\langle \mathfrak{p}\psi | \mathfrak{p}\phi \rangle = (2\pi)^4 \int_I \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \epsilon(u) \prec \Pi_- \chi^m_{k_2,k_3,u}(0) \, | \, \gamma^0 \, \Pi_- \chi^m_{k_2,k_3,u}(0) \succ \, du \, dk_2 \, dk_3 \right) \, dm \, dk_2 \, dk_3 \, dk_4 \, dk_3 \, dk_3 \, dk_3 \, dk_4 \, dk_3 \, dk_3 \, dk_3 \, dk_4 \,$$

Comparing the formulas in Corollary 5.4 and Lemma 5.1, one can read off the fermionic signature operators S_m in (2.9). This gives rise to the following result.

Theorem 5.5. The Dirac operator (2.2) in the presence of a smooth plane electromagnetic wave (i.e. with $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{A}$ and \mathcal{A} according to (3.1) and (3.2)) has the strong mass oscillation property (2.8). The resulting fermionic signature operators $(S_m)_{m \in I}$ simply act on \mathcal{H}_m by multiplication with the sign of the separation constant u in (5.5), i.e.

$$(\mathfrak{S}_m\psi_m)(t,x,y,z) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} e^{-ik_2y - ik_3z} e^{-iul} \epsilon(u) \chi^m_{k_2,k_3,u}(s) \, du \, dk_2 \, dk_3 \, .$$

Proof. For families of solutions $\psi, \phi \in C^{\infty}_{\mathrm{sc},0}(\mathcal{M} \times I, S\mathcal{M})$, one sees immediately that the relation (2.9) holds for S_m being the multiplication operators

$$S_m \chi^m_{k_2, k_3, u} = \epsilon(u) \chi^m_{k_2, k_3, u} .$$
(5.9)

Since the operators S_m are obviously bounded by one, it follows that for all $\psi, \phi \in C^{\infty}_{sc,0}(\mathcal{M} \times I, S\mathcal{M})$ the inequality

$$\left| < \mathfrak{p}\psi | \mathfrak{p}\phi > \right| \leq \int_{I} \left\| \psi_m \right\| \left\| \phi_m \right\| dm$$

holds. This establishes the strong mass oscillation property for \mathcal{H}^{∞} as in (2.6). Applying Theorem 2.2, we obtain the existence of a unique family of bounded operators $(S_m)_{m \in I}$ satisfying (2.9). Using a denseness argument, one sees that these operators are again given by (5.9). This concludes the proof.

6. The Fermionic Projector and Quantum States

Exactly as explained in [16, Section 3], the *fermionic projector* P is introduced as the operator

$$P = -\chi_{(-\infty,0)}(\mathfrak{S}_m) k_m : C_0^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}, S\mathcal{M}) \to \mathfrak{H}_m, \qquad (6.1)$$

where S is the fermionic signature operator, and k_m is the *causal fundamental solution* defined as the difference of the advanced and retarded Green's operators,

$$k_m := \frac{1}{2\pi i} \left(s_m^{\vee} - s_m^{\wedge} \right) : \ C_0^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}, S\mathcal{M}) \to C_{\mathrm{sc}}^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}, S\mathcal{M}) \cap \mathfrak{H}_m .$$

The fermionic projector P can be represented by a distribution, referred to as the *kernel of the fermionic projector*. Namely, just as in [16, Section 3.5], one shows that there is a unique distribution $\mathcal{P} \in \mathcal{D}'(\mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{M}, \mathbb{C}^{4 \times 4})$ such that

$$\langle \phi | P\psi \rangle = \mathcal{P}(\overline{\phi} \otimes \psi) \quad \text{for all } \phi, \psi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathcal{M}, S\mathcal{M}) .$$
 (6.2)

Moreover, applying Araki's construction in [1] to the projection operator $\chi_{(-\infty,0)}(S_m)$ gives rise to a distinguished quasi-free ground state of the second-quantized Dirac field with the property that the two-point distribution coincides with the kernel of the fermionic projector. In the language of algebraic QFT, this result is stated as follows:

Theorem 6.1. There is an algebra of smeared fields generated by $\Psi(g)$, $\Psi^*(f)$ together with a pure quasi-free state ω with the following properties:

(a) The canonical anti-commutation relations hold:

$$\{\Psi(g), \Psi^*(f)\} = \langle g^* | k_m f \rangle, \qquad \{\Psi(g), \Psi(g')\} = 0 = \{\Psi^*(f), \Psi^*(f')\}.$$

(b) The two-point distribution of the state is given by

$$\omega(\Psi(g) \Psi^*(f)) = -\iint_{\mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{M}} g(x) \mathcal{P}(x, y) f(y) d^4x d^4y.$$

The state ω is sometimes referred to as the FP state [7]. The proof of Theorem 6.1 is exactly the same as the proof of [14, Theorem 1.4] as given in [14, Section 6].

7. INTEGRAL REPRESENTATION OF THE FERMIONIC PROJECTOR

In the next lemma, the causal Green's function is separated and expressed in terms of an ODE in the null coordinate s. We denote points in Minkowski space by q = (s, l, y, z)(and similarly with a tilde).

Lemma 7.1. For the Dirac equation (3.3) in the presence of an electromagnetic potential of the form (3.2), the Green's function can be written as

$$s_m(q,\tilde{q}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} e^{-ik_2(y-\tilde{y}) - ik_3(z-\tilde{z})} e^{-iu(l-\tilde{l})} s_{k_2,k_3,u}(s,\tilde{s}) \, du \, dk_2 \, dk_3 \,, \tag{7.1}$$

where the distribution $s_{k_2,k_3,u}(s,\tilde{s})$ is of the form

$$s_{k_2,k_3,u}(s,\tilde{s}) = N_- a + \Pi_- b + \frac{2}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{1}{2u} N_+ \delta(s-\tilde{s})$$
(7.2)

$$+ \frac{1}{2u} \left(\sum_{j=2,3} \gamma^{j} (k_{j} + A_{j}(s)) + m \right) \left(N_{+} b + \Pi_{+} a \right), \qquad (7.3)$$

and a and b are solutions of the ODEs

$$4iu \frac{da}{ds} = \left(\sum_{j=2,3} \left(k_j + A_j(s)\right)^2 + m^2\right) a + \frac{4u}{(2\pi)^3} \,\delta(s - \tilde{s}) \tag{7.4}$$
$$4iu \frac{db}{ds} = \left(\sum_{j=2,3} \left(k_j + A_j(s)\right)^2 + m^2\right) b + \left(\sum_{j=2,3} \gamma^j \left(k_j + A_j(s)\right) + m\right) \frac{2}{(2\pi)^3} \,\delta(s - \tilde{s}) \,. \tag{7.5}$$

Proof. Taking (7.1) similar to (5.1) as a separation ansatz, the distribution $s_{k_2,k_3,u}$ must satisfy the Dirac equation (3.6) with a δ -distribution as a source term, i.e.

$$\left(2iN_{+}\partial_{s} + 2uN_{-} + \sum_{j=2,3}\gamma^{j}(k_{j} + A_{j}(s)) - m\right)s_{k_{2},k_{3},u}(s,\tilde{s}) = \frac{2}{(2\pi)^{3}}\delta(s-\tilde{s}) \quad (7.6)$$

(the factor of two comes about because $\delta(t - \tilde{t}) \,\delta(x - \tilde{x}) = 2 \,\delta(s - \tilde{s}) \,\delta(l - \tilde{l})$).

We now proceed similar as in Section 3: Multiplying the Dirac equation (7.6) by Π_{-} and using the relations (3.7) and (3.8), we obtain the algebraic equation

$$2u N_{-} s_{k_{2},k_{3},u}(s,\tilde{s}) = -\left(\sum_{j=2,3} \gamma^{j} (k_{j} + A_{j}(s)) - m\right) \Pi_{-} s_{k_{2},k_{3},u}(s,\tilde{s}) + \frac{2}{(2\pi)^{3}} \Pi_{-} \delta(s-\tilde{s}).$$
(7.7)

Similarly, multiplying (7.6) by N_{-} gives the differential equation

$$2i\frac{d}{ds}\Pi_{-}s_{k_{2},k_{3},u}(s,\tilde{s}) \\ = \left(\sum_{j=2,3}\gamma^{j}(k_{j}+A_{j}(s))+m\right)N_{-}s_{k_{2},k_{3},u}(s,\tilde{s}) + \frac{2}{(2\pi)^{3}}N_{-}\delta(s-\tilde{s}).$$

Multiplying by 2u and using (7.7), we obtain the ODE

$$4iu \frac{d}{ds} \Pi_{-} s_{k_{2},k_{3},u}(s,\tilde{s}) = \left(\sum_{j=2,3} \left(k_{j} + A_{j}(s)\right)^{2} + m^{2}\right) \Pi_{-} s_{k_{2},k_{3},u}(s,\tilde{s}) + \left(\sum_{j=2,3} \gamma^{j} \left(k_{j} + A_{j}(s)\right) + m\right) \frac{2}{(2\pi)^{3}} \Pi_{-} \delta\left(s - \tilde{s}\right) + \frac{4u}{(2\pi)^{3}} N_{-} \delta\left(s - \tilde{s}\right).$$
(7.8)

In (7.2) and (7.3), the components involving N_{\pm} and Π_{\pm} are written separately (note that the Dirac matrices γ^2 and γ^3 anti-commute with N_{\pm} and commute with Π_{\pm}). The ODE (7.8) poses conditions for the components involving N_{-} and Π_{-} . By direct computation, one sees that this ODE is equivalent to (7.4) and (7.5). Moreover, as is verified by a direct computation, the algebraic equation (7.7) determines the components involving N_{+} and Π_{+} in (7.2) and (7.3). This gives the result.

We point out that the homogeneous part of the ODEs (7.4) and (7.5) is the ODE (5.3), which can be solved by integration (5.4). The ODEs (7.4) and (7.5) can be solved similarly using the method of variation of constants. For the retarded Green's functions,

17

one obtains

$$a(s,\tilde{s}) = \frac{4u}{(2\pi)^3} \Theta(s-\tilde{s}) \ e^{-\frac{i}{4u} \int_{\tilde{s}}^{s} \left(\sum_{j=2,3} (k_j+A_j)^2 + m^2\right)} \\ b(s,\tilde{s}) = \frac{2}{(2\pi)^3} \Theta(s-\tilde{s}) \left(\sum_{j=2,3} \gamma^j (k_j+A_j(\tilde{s})) + m\right) \ e^{-\frac{i}{4u} \int_{\tilde{s}}^{s} \left(\sum_{j=2,3} (k_j+A_j)^2 + m^2\right)} ,$$

and similarly for the advanced Green's function. Taking the difference of these Green's functions, we obtain a corresponding representation of k_m (see (2.5)). Using that, according to Theorem 5.5, the factor $\chi_{(-\infty,0)}(S)$ in (6.1) amounts to a factor $\Theta(-u)$, we obtain the following integral representation.

Theorem 7.2. For the Dirac equation (3.3) in the presence of an electromagnetic potential of the form (3.2), the kernel of the fermionic projector (6.2) has the representation

$$\mathcal{P}(q,\tilde{q}) = \int_{-\infty}^{0} du \int_{\mathbb{R}^2} dk_2 \, dk_3 \, e^{-ik_2(y-\tilde{y}) - ik_3(z-\tilde{z})} \, e^{-iu(l-\tilde{l})} \, \mathcal{P}_{k_2,k_3,u}(s,\tilde{s}) \,,$$

where the distribution $\mathcal{P}_{k_2,k_3,u}(s,\tilde{s})$ is of the form

$$\mathcal{P}_{k_{2},k_{3},u}(s,\tilde{s}) = N_{-} a(s,\tilde{s}) + \Pi_{-} b(s,\tilde{s}) + \frac{1}{2u} \left(\sum_{j=2,3} \gamma^{j} (k_{j} + A_{j}(s)) + m \right) \left(N_{+} b(s,\tilde{s}) + \Pi_{+} a(s,\tilde{s}) \right),$$
(7.9)

and the functions $a(s, \tilde{s})$ and $b(s, \tilde{s})$ are given by

$$a(s,\tilde{s}) = \frac{iu}{4\pi^4} e^{-\frac{i}{4u} \int_{\tilde{s}}^{s} \left(\sum_{j=2,3} (k_j + A_j(s'))^2 + m^2 \right) ds'}$$
(7.10)

$$b(s,\tilde{s}) = \frac{i}{8\pi^4} \left(\sum_{j=2,3} \gamma^j (k_j + A_j(\tilde{s})) + m \right) e^{-\frac{i}{4u} \int_{\tilde{s}}^s \left(\sum_{j=2,3} (k_j + A_j(s'))^2 + m^2 \right) ds'} .$$
(7.11)

We remark that the FP state coincides with the ground state constructed in [18, Section 5.2.2] using a "frequency splitting" in the null momentum variable u.

8. HADAMARD FORM OF THE FERMIONIC PROJECTOR

Recall that the wave front set WF \mathcal{P} of a distribution $\mathcal{P} \in \mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{R}^n, \mathbb{C}^N)$ is defined as the complement of the points $(x, \xi) \in \mathbb{R}^n \times (\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ with the following property: There exists a test function $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with f(x) = 1 and a conical neighborhood $\Gamma \subset \mathbb{R}^n$ of ξ such that

$$\sup_{\zeta \in \Gamma} \left(1 + |\zeta| \right)^q \left\| \widehat{f \mathcal{P}}(\zeta) \right\|_{\mathbb{C}^N} < \infty \quad \text{for all } q \in \mathbb{N}_0 .$$
(8.1)

A bi-distribution $\mathcal{P} \in \mathcal{D}'(\mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{M}, \mathbb{C}^{4 \times 4})$ is called *of Hadamard form* if its wave front set is given by²

WF
$$\mathcal{P} = \left\{ (x, \xi, y, -\xi) \in \mathcal{M} \times \mathbb{R}^4 \times \mathcal{M} \times \mathbb{R}^4$$

with $\xi^2 = 0, \ \xi^0 < 0 \text{ and } y - x \sim \xi \right\},$ (8.2)

²Working in a fixed reference frame, we here identify the co-tangent space $T^*\mathcal{M}$ with $\mathcal{M} \times \mathbb{R}^4$. Moreover, we implicitly identify tangent and co-tangent vectors using the Minkowski metric.

where ξ^0 denotes the time component of ξ in a given reference frame. Here the notation $y - x \sim \xi$ means that y - x is a multiple of the lightlike vector ξ (more generally, in curved space-time this notation means that there is a lightlike geodesic from x to ywhose velocity co-vector equals ξ). In non-technical terms, the Hadamard form means that the singularities of $\mathcal{P}(x, y)$ lie on the light cone and are formed only of negative frequencies.

This is our main result:

Theorem 8.1. For the Dirac equation (3.3) in the presence of a smooth electromagnetic potential of the form (3.2), the kernel of the fermionic projector \mathcal{P} , (6.2), is of Hadamard form.

For the FP state ω of Theorem 6.1, this result can be stated as follows:

Corollary 8.2. The fermionic projector state is a Hadamard state.

The remainder of this section is devoted to the proof of Theorem 8.1. Before beginning, we point out that the methods used in [11, Section 3] or [12, Section 2.2] for computing the light-cone expansion of the fermionic projector do not apply in our setting because they rely crucially on decay assumptions on the potential at infinity (see [12, Lemma 2.1.2]). In preparation, we write (8.2) independent of a reference frame as

WF
$$\mathcal{P} = \left\{ (x, \xi, y, -\xi) \mid \xi^2 = 0, \langle \mathfrak{n}, \xi \rangle \le 0 \text{ and } y - x \sim \xi \right\},$$

$$(8.3)$$

where \mathfrak{n} is any future-directed timelike vector of \mathcal{M} (and $\langle \mathfrak{n}, \xi \rangle$ is the Minkowski inner product). In our setting, the plane electromagnetic wave distinguishes a lightlike direction. Namely, writing the plane wave (3.2) for $q \in \mathcal{M}$ as

$$A(q) = A(\langle \mathfrak{n}, q \rangle) = A(s) \quad \text{with} \quad \mathfrak{n} = (1, -1, 0, 0) = 2\partial_l$$

the vector \mathbf{n} describes the direction of the propagation of the electromagnetic wave. It is future-directed and lightlike, and it is unique up to multiplication by an irrelevant positive constant. Having this distinguished lightlike direction to our disposal, it is natural to consider the limiting case that the timelike vector in (8.3) goes over to the null vector \mathbf{n} . In this limiting case, the intersection of the light cone with the hypersurface $\langle \mathbf{n}, \xi \rangle = 0$ changes from one point to a whole lightlike line,

$$\left\{\xi \mid \xi^2 = 0\right\} \cap \left\{\xi \mid \langle \mathfrak{n}, \xi \rangle = 0\right\} = \left\{\lambda \mathfrak{n} \mid \lambda \in \mathbb{R}\right\}.$$

In particular, the set in (8.3) contains additional vectors ξ which point to the future, but which are all collinear to \mathfrak{n} . The delicate point will be to show that these additional vectors do *not* lie in the wave front set of \mathcal{P} .

For clarity, we always denote points in Minkowski space by latin letters p, q, r, whereas momenta are denoted by Greek letters ξ, η, ζ . We begin with a preparatory lemma.

Lemma 8.3. For any test function $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{M})$,

$$\left(\widehat{f\,\mathcal{P}}\right)(\zeta,\eta) = \iint_{\mathcal{M}\times\mathcal{M}} \mathcal{P}(p,q) f(p,q) e^{-i\zeta p - i\eta q} d^4 p d^4 q$$
(8.4)

$$= \Theta(-\zeta^{s}) \iint_{\mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{M}} k_{m}(p,q) f(p,q) e^{-i\zeta p - i\eta q} d^{4}p d^{4}q$$
(8.5)

$$+ \frac{i}{2\pi} \iint_{\mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{M}} k_m(p,q) \,\hat{g}_{p,q}\left(\frac{\zeta^s}{2}\right) e^{-i\zeta p - i\eta q} \,d^4 p \,d^4 q \,, \qquad (8.6)$$

where, setting p = (s, l, y, z), $\hat{g}_{p,q}$ is the smooth function

$$\hat{g}_{p,q}(u) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\tilde{l} \, \int_{0}^{1} d\tau \, \frac{\partial}{\partial l} f\big((s,l+\tau\tilde{l},y,z),q\big) \, e^{-iu\tilde{l}} \,. \tag{8.7}$$

Proof. Using the result of Theorem 5.5 in (6.1), we obtain

$$\mathcal{P}(p,q) = \int_{\mathcal{M}} \left(\chi_{-\infty,0}(\mathbb{S}_m) \right)(p,r) k_m(r,q) d^4r$$
$$= \frac{i}{2\pi} \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{dl'}{l-l'+i\varepsilon} k_m \big((s,l',y,z),q \big) ,$$

where $\chi_{-\infty,0}(S_m)(p,r)$ is the integral kernel of the operator $\chi_{-\infty,0}(S_m)$, and the coordinates of p and r are denoted by

$$p = (s, l, y, z)$$
 and $r = (s, l', y, z)$.

We consider the Fourier integral (8.4). Using the above relation for $\mathcal{P}(p,q)$ gives

$$2\pi i \iint_{\mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{M}} \mathcal{P}(p,q) f(p,q) e^{-i\zeta p - i\eta q} d^4 p d^4 q$$

=
$$\lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \iint_{\mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{M}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{dl'}{l - l' + i\varepsilon} k_m \big((s, l', y, z), q \big) f(p,q) e^{-i\zeta p - i\eta q} d^4 p d^4 q$$
(8.8)

$$= \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \iint_{\mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{M}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{dl'}{l - l' + i\varepsilon} k_m(r, q) f(r, q) e^{-i\zeta p - i\eta q} d^4 p d^4 q$$
(8.9)

$$+\lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \iint_{\mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{M}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{dl'}{l - l' + i\varepsilon} k_m(r, q) \left(f(p, q) - f(r, q) \right) e^{-i\zeta p - i\eta q} d^4 p d^4 q \,. \tag{8.10}$$

In (8.9) we combine the integral over l' with the integrations over s, y, z to an integral over r, and write the *l*-integral separately,

$$(8.9) = \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \iint_{\mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{M}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{dl}{l - l' + i\varepsilon} k_m(r, q) f(r, q) e^{-i\zeta p - i\eta q} d^4 r d^4 q.$$

Now the l-integration can be carried out using the relations

$$\frac{i}{2\pi} \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{dl}{l - l' + i\varepsilon} e^{iul} = \Theta(-u) e^{iul'}$$

$$\zeta = \zeta^s \partial_s + \zeta^l \partial_l + \zeta^y \partial_y + \zeta^z \partial_z$$

$$\zeta p = \frac{1}{2} \zeta^l s + \frac{1}{2} \zeta^s l - \zeta^y y - \zeta^z z$$

$$\frac{i}{2\pi} \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} (8.9) = \Theta(-\zeta^s) \iint_{\mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{M}} k_m(r,q) f(r,q) e^{-i\zeta r - i\eta q} d^4r d^4q.$$

In (8.10), on the other hand, we use the relation

$$\begin{split} f(p,q) - f(r,q) &= \int_0^1 \frac{d}{d\tau} f\big(\tau p + (1-\tau)r,q\big) d\tau \\ &= \int_0^1 \frac{\partial}{\partial \tilde{l}} f\big((s,\tilde{l},y,z),q\big) \big|_{\tilde{l}=\tau l + (1-\tau)l'} (l-l') d\tau \,, \end{split}$$

which we write as

$$f(p,q) - f(r,q) = g_{r,q}(l-l') (l-l')$$

19

for

$$g_{r,q}(l-l') := \int_0^1 \frac{\partial}{\partial \tilde{l}} f\left((s,\tilde{l},y,z),q\right) \big|_{\tilde{l}=\tau l+(1-\tau)l'} d\tau$$

This makes it possible to take the limit $\varepsilon \searrow 0$ to obtain

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} (8.10) = \iint_{\mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{M}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dl' \, k_m(r,q) \, g_{r,q}(l-l') \, e^{-i\zeta p - i\eta q} \, d^4 p \, d^4 q$$
$$= \iint_{\mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{M}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dl \, k_m(r,q) \, g_{r,q}(l-l') \, e^{-i\zeta p - i\eta q} \, d^4 r \, d^4 q \, .$$

Carrying out the *l*-integration by

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dl \ g_{r,q}(l-l') \ e^{-\frac{i}{2} \zeta^s(l-l')} = \hat{g}_{r,q}\left(\frac{\zeta^s}{2}\right),$$

we obtain

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} (8.10) = \iint_{\mathcal{M} \times \mathcal{M}} k_m(r,q) \, \hat{g}_{r,q}\left(\frac{\zeta^s}{2}\right) e^{-i\zeta r - i\eta q} \, d^4r \, d^4q$$

This concludes the proof.

This lemma makes it possible to prove Theorem 8.1 provided that the momenta are not collinear to \mathfrak{n} :

Lemma 8.4. The wave front set of the kernel of the fermionic projector has the properties

$$\begin{split} \operatorname{WF} \mathcal{P} \supset \left\{ (x,\xi,y,-\xi) \mid \xi^2 = 0 , \ \langle \mathfrak{n},\xi \rangle < 0 \ and \ y - x \sim \xi \right\} \\ \operatorname{WF} \mathcal{P} \subset \left\{ (x,\xi,y,-\xi) \mid \xi^2 = 0 , \langle \mathfrak{n},\xi \rangle < 0 \ and \ y - x \sim \xi \right\} \\ \cup \left\{ (x,\xi,y,\eta) \mid \xi \sim \mathfrak{n} \ and \ \eta \sim \mathfrak{n} \right\}. \end{split}$$

Proof. Since \mathcal{P} satisfies the Dirac equation, the theorem on the propagation of singularities [26, Theorem 5.5] implies that the momenta in the wave front set must be characteristic, i.e.

WF
$$\mathcal{P} \subset \left\{ (x, \xi, y, \eta) \mid \xi^2 = \eta^2 = 0 \right\}$$

Moreover, the wave front set of the fundamental solution is given by

WF
$$k_m = \{(x,\xi,y,-\xi) \mid \xi^2 = 0 \text{ and } y - x \sim \xi\}.$$
 (8.11)

This can be seen in various ways: One method is to adapt the methods in [2, Section 4] to the vector-valued situation; see also [26]. Alternatively, the light-cone expansion (see [11, Section 2] or the textbook [12, §2.2.2]) gives a method of determining the singularity structure of $k_m(x, y)$ explicitly. This analysis shows that $k_m(x, y)$ is smooth away from the light cone (i.e. if $(y - x)^2 \neq 0$), and has singularities on the light cone which give rise precisely to the wave front set (8.11).

In view of the symmetry of the kernel of the fermionic projector $\mathcal{P}(p,q)^* = \mathcal{P}(q,p)$, it suffices to consider the case that ξ is not collinear to \mathfrak{n} , i.e.

$$\xi^s \equiv \langle \xi, \mathfrak{n} \rangle \neq 0 \, .$$

Being the Fourier transform of a smooth function, the function $\hat{g}_{p,q}(u)$ in (8.7) decays rapidly in u. As a consequence, the summand (8.6) decays rapidly for all $\tilde{\zeta}$ in a cone around ξ , uniformly in η . Therefore, the summand (8.6) does not contribute to the wave front set. The remaining summand (8.5) shows that the point (x, ξ, y, η) is in the wave front set of \mathcal{P} if and only if it is in the wave front set of k_m and $\xi^s < 0$. This concludes the proof.

In view of this lemma, it remains to consider the case that $\xi \sim \mathfrak{n}$ and $\eta \sim \mathfrak{n}$. In this case, the representation of Lemma 8.3 is not useful, mainly because the function $\hat{g}_{p,q}$ in (8.6) is not compactly supported in p and q as required the definition of the wave front set (8.1). We proceed in several steps:

Lemma 8.5. Assume that the vector y - x is not collinear to \mathfrak{n} . Then (x, ξ, y, η) is not in the wave front set of \mathcal{P} for all $\xi, \eta \in \mathbb{R}^4 \setminus \{0\}$.

Proof. We choose a function $\Theta \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ with

$$\Theta(l) = \frac{1}{l}$$
 for all $l \in \mathbb{R} \setminus [-1, 1]$.

Then, setting again r = (s, l', y, z), we may rewrite (8.8) as

$$2\pi i \iint_{\mathcal{M}\times\mathcal{M}} \mathcal{P}(p,q) f(p,q) e^{-i\zeta p - i\eta q} d^4 p d^4 q$$

$$= \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \iint_{\mathcal{M}\times\mathcal{M}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{dl}{l - l' + i\varepsilon} k_m(r,q) f(p,q) e^{-i\zeta p - i\eta q} d^4 r d^4 q$$

$$= \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \iint_{\mathcal{M}\times\mathcal{M}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dl \left(\frac{1}{l - l' + i\varepsilon} - \Theta(l - l') \right) k_m(r,q) f(p,q) e^{-i\zeta p - i\eta q} d^4 r d^4 q \quad (8.12)$$

$$+ \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \iint_{\mathcal{M}\times\mathcal{M}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dl \Theta(l - l') k_m(r,q) f(p,q) e^{-i\zeta p - i\eta q} d^4 r d^4 q \quad (8.13)$$

Note that in (8.12) the integrand vanishes if |l-l'| > 1. Moreover, since f has compact support, the integrand vanishes if |l| > L for some sufficiently large L > 0 (uniformly in p and q). Therefore, the integrand vanishes if |l'| > L + 1. Thus, choosing a cutoff function $\chi_L \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ with $\chi_L|_{[-L-1,L+1]} \equiv 1$,

$$(8.12) = \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \iint_{\mathcal{M}^2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dl \left(\frac{1}{l - l' + i\varepsilon} - \Theta(l - l') \right) \chi_L(l') k_m(r, q) f(p, q) e^{-i\zeta p - i\eta q} d^4r \, d^4q.$$

Next, we expand the function f in the integrand as a Taylor polynomial in l around l', i.e.

$$f(p,q) = \sum_{k=0}^{K} \frac{\partial^k}{\partial l'^k} f(r,q) \left(l-l'\right)^k + R_K(p,q,l-l') ,$$

where the error term R_K is of the order $o((l - l')^K)$, is smooth in p and q and has compact support in q. For the Taylor polynomial, we can carry out the *l*-integrals term by term,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dl \left(\frac{1}{l - l' + i\varepsilon} - \Theta(l - l') \right) e^{iul} \frac{\partial^k}{\partial l'^k} f(r, q) \left(l - l' \right)^k = g_k(u) e^{iul'} \frac{\partial^k f(r, q)}{\partial l'^k} \,,$$

where the function

$$g_k(u) := \lim_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(l+i\varepsilon)^{1-k}} e^{iul} dl$$

is obviously smooth and bounded. We thus obtain

$$\iint_{\mathcal{M}\times\mathcal{M}} \mathcal{P}(p,q) f(p,q) e^{-i\zeta p - i\eta q} d^4 p d^4 q$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{K} g_k(u) \iint_{\mathcal{M}\times\mathcal{M}} k_m(r,q) \frac{\partial^k f(r,q)}{\partial l'^k} \chi_L(l') e^{-i\zeta r - i\eta q} d^4 r d^4 q$$

$$+ \iint_{\mathcal{M}} \int_{\mathcal{M}\times\mathcal{M}} \int_{\mathcal{M}\times\mathcal{M}} dl' \left(\frac{1}{1 - l' + iq} - \Theta(l - l')\right)$$
(8.14)

$$+ \iint_{\mathcal{M}\times\mathcal{M}} \int_{-L-1} dl' \left(\frac{-}{l-l'+i\varepsilon} - \Theta(l-l') \right) \\ \times R_K(p,q,l-l') \chi_L(l') k_m((s,l',y,z),q) e^{-i\zeta p - i\eta q} d^4p d^4q$$
(8.15)

$$+ \iint_{\mathcal{M}\times\mathcal{M}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dl' \,\Theta(l-l') \,k_m\big((s,l',y,z),q\big) \,f(p,q) \,e^{-i\zeta p - i\eta q} \,d^4p \,d^4q \,. \tag{8.16}$$

Now we can argue as follows: Since (x, ξ, y, η) is not in the wave front set of k_m , the contribution (8.14) clearly does not contribute to the wave front set. Next, as the vector y - x is not collinear to \mathfrak{n} , the straight line $\{(s, l', y, z) \mid l' \in \mathbb{R}\}$ intersects the light cone transversely. As a consequence, the convolution in (8.16)

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dl' \,\Theta(l-l') \,k_m\big((s,l',y,z),q\big)$$

gives rise to a smooth function in p and q, implying that its Fourier transform decays rapidly in ζ and η . Hence (8.16) does not contribute to the wave front set.

Finally, the term (8.15) again involves a convolution,

$$\int_{-L-1}^{L+1} dl' \left(\frac{1}{l-l'+i\varepsilon} - \Theta(l-l') \right) R_K(p,q,l-l') \chi_L(l') k_m((s,l',y,z),q) .$$
(8.17)

Since R_K vanishes at l = l', this factor compensates the pole of the first factor in the integrand. Even more, by choosing K sufficiently large, we can make the convolution kernel arbitrarily smooth. More precisely,

$$\left(\frac{1}{\cdot + i\varepsilon} - \Theta(\cdot)\right) R_K(p,q,\cdot) \in C^{K-2}(\mathbb{R}).$$

As worked out in detail in [11], the leading singularities of k_m on the light cone are of the form $\sim \notin \delta'((y-x)^2)$ and $\sim \text{PP}/((y-x)^4)$. As a consequence, the convolution integral (8.17) has the regularity C^{K-4} in p and q. Since K is arbitrary, the Fourier transform of (8.17) decays rapidly in ζ and η . This concludes the proof.

Lemma 8.6. Assume that $\xi, \tilde{\eta} \in \mathbb{R}^4 \setminus \{0\}$ and $\tilde{\eta} \neq -\xi$. Then the point $(x, \xi, y, \tilde{\eta})$ is not in the wave front set of \mathcal{P} for all $x, y \in \mathcal{M}$.

Proof. We choose a conical set Γ around $(\xi, \hat{\eta})$ such that $\eta \neq -\zeta$ for all $(\zeta, \eta) \in \Gamma$. We choose an index j such that $\eta^j \neq -\zeta^j$. Then

$$(-i(\eta^{j}+\zeta^{j}))^{K} \iint_{\mathcal{M}\times\mathcal{M}} \mathcal{P}(p,q) f(p,q) e^{-i\zeta p-i\eta q} d^{4}p d^{4}q = \iint_{\mathcal{M}\times\mathcal{M}} \mathcal{P}(p,q) f(p,q) \left(\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial p^{j}} + \frac{\partial}{\partial q^{j}}\right)^{K} e^{-i\zeta p-i\eta q} \right) d^{4}p d^{4}q = (-1)^{K} \iint_{\mathcal{M}\times\mathcal{M}} \left(\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial p^{j}} + \frac{\partial}{\partial q^{j}}\right)^{K} \mathcal{P}(p,q) f(p,q) \right) e^{-i\zeta p-i\eta q} d^{4}p d^{4}q .$$
(8.18)

As is obvious from the formulas of the light cone expansion in [11], the singular terms in the light cone expansion depend only on the difference vector p - q. Thus their derivatives cancel in the combination $\partial_p + \partial_q$. Hence in (8.18) only the electromagnetic potential in the light cone expansion is differentiated. As a consequence, the derivatives in (8.18) do not increase the order of the singularities on the light cone. Therefore, (8.18) shows that the Fourier integral in (8.4) decays rapidly in ζ and η . This concludes the proof.

Lemma 8.7. Assume that $\xi \sim \mathfrak{n}$, $\xi^0 > 0$ and $x - y \sim \xi$. Then the point $(x, \xi, y, -\xi)$ is not in the wave front set of \mathcal{P} for all $x, y \in \mathcal{M}$. Conversely, if $\xi \sim \mathfrak{n}$, $\xi^0 < 0$ and $x - y \sim \xi$, then the point $(x, \xi, y, -\xi)$ lies in the wave front set of \mathcal{P} .

Proof. We write the kernel $\mathcal{P}_{k_2,k_3,u}$ in (7.9) as

$$\mathcal{P}_{k_2,k_3,u}(s,\tilde{s}) = g_{k_2,k_3,u}(s) \ e^{-\frac{i}{4u} \int_{\tilde{s}}^{s} \left(\sum_{j=2,3} (k_j + A_j(s'))^2 + m^2 \right) ds'}$$

where $g_{k_2,k_3,u}(s)$ is a smooth function in all variables k_2, k_3, u and s. We now set $\tilde{s} = 0$, multiply by a non-trivial test function f(s) and compute the Fourier transform,

$$F_{k_2,k_3,u}(v) := \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f(s) g_{k_2,k_3,u}(s) e^{-\frac{i}{4u} \int_0^s \left(\sum_{j=2,3} (k_j + A_j(s'))^2 + m^2\right) ds'} e^{ivs} ds .$$
(8.19)

We first consider the case

$$v > \frac{m^2}{8u} \,. \tag{8.20}$$

Then the function h(s) defined by

$$h(s) = vs - \frac{1}{4u} \int_0^s \left(\sum_{j=2,3} (k_j + A_j(s'))^2 + m^2 \right) ds'$$

is strictly increasing, because

$$h'(s) = v - \frac{1}{4u} \left(\sum_{j=2,3} (k_j + A_j(s))^2 + m^2 \right) > -\frac{m^2}{8u} > 0.$$

Therefore, we can introduce h as a new integration variable to obtain

$$F_{k_{2},k_{3},u}(v) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \eta(s(h)) e^{ih} \frac{dh}{h'(s)} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\eta(s(h))}{h'(s)} e^{ih} dh ,$$

where we used the abbreviation $\eta = f g_{k_2,k_3,u}$. Now one can integrate by parts,

$$F_{k_{2},k_{3},u}(v) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\eta(s(h))}{h'(s)} \left(-i\frac{d}{dh}e^{ih} \right) dh = i \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(\frac{d}{dh} \frac{\eta(s(h))}{h'(s)} \right) e^{ih} dh$$
$$= i \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \left(\frac{\eta'(s(h)) - h''(s) \eta(s(h))}{h'(s)^{2}} \right) e^{ih} dh .$$
(8.21)

Iteration shows that $F_{k_2,k_3,u}(v)$ decays rapidly as $v \to \infty$ (note that h'(s) grows linearly in v, whereas h''(s) and $\eta(s)$ are independent of v). As this estimate is uniform for k_2, k_3 and v in a conical neighborhood pointing to the future, it follows that $(x, \xi, y, -\xi)$ is not in the wave front set if $\xi \sim \mathfrak{n}$ and $\xi^0 > 0$.

In order to prove that the point $(x, \xi, y, -\xi)$ is in the wave front set if $\xi \sim \mathfrak{n}$ and $\xi^0 < 0$, we proceed indirectly and assume that this point is not in the wave front set. Then the function $F_{k_2,k_3,u}(v)$ decays rapidly as $v \to -\infty$, locally uniformly in u, k_2 and k_3 . On the other hand, the integration-by-parts method (8.21) gives upper bounds for $F_{k_2,k_3,u}$ in the range (8.20). Combining these results, we conclude that

$$\lim_{u \nearrow 0} F_{k_2,k_3,u} = 0 \quad \text{in } L^2(\mathbb{R})$$

for all k_2 and k_3 . On the other hand, applying Plancherel's theorem to (8.19), we obtain

$$\|F_{k_2,k_3,u}\|^2_{L^2(\mathbb{R})} = 2\pi \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} |f(s) g_{k_2,k_3,u}(s)|^2 ds$$

which is bounded away from zero as u tends to zero (note that $g_{k_2,k_3,u}$ is non-zero in this limit in view of the explicit representation in (7.9)). This is a contradiction. Hence the point $(x, \xi, y, -\xi)$ must be in the wave front set. This concludes the proof. \Box

Theorem 8.1 follows immediately by combining the results of Lemmas 8.4–8.7.

9. EXAMPLE: A HARMONIC PLANE ELECTROMAGNETIC WAVE

In this section we compute and discuss the kernel of the fermionic projector in closed form for a harmonic plane electromagnetic wave. Thus we choose the electromagnetic potential A in (3.2) and (3.3) as

$$A_2 = \lambda \cos\left(\Omega \left(t + x\right)\right), \qquad A_3 = 0 \tag{9.1}$$

for real parameters $\Omega \neq 0$ and λ . For this potential, the integrals in (7.10) and (7.11) can be carried out to obtain

$$\int_{\tilde{s}}^{s} \left(\sum_{j=2,3} \left(k_{j} + A_{j}(s') \right)^{2} + m^{2} \right) ds'$$

$$= \int_{\tilde{s}}^{s} \left(\left(k_{2} + 2 + \lambda \cos(\Omega s') \right)^{2} + k_{3}^{2} + m^{2} \right) ds'$$

$$= \int_{\tilde{s}}^{s} \left(k_{2}^{2} + 2k_{2} \lambda \cos(\Omega s') + \lambda^{2} \cos^{2}(\Omega s') + k_{3}^{2} + m^{2} \right) ds'$$

$$= \left(k_{2}^{2} + k_{3}^{2} + m^{2} \right) s' + \frac{2k_{2} \lambda}{\Omega} \sin(\Omega s') + \frac{\lambda^{2} s'}{2} + \frac{\lambda^{2}}{4\Omega} \sin(2\Omega s') \Big|_{s'=\tilde{s}}^{s'=s}$$

$$= \left(k_{2}^{2} + k_{3}^{2} + \frac{\lambda}{2} + m^{2} \right) (s - \tilde{s})$$

$$+ \frac{2k_{2} \lambda}{\Omega} \left(\sin(\Omega s) - \sin(\Omega \tilde{s}) \right) + \frac{\lambda^{2}}{4\Omega} \left(\sin(2\Omega s) - \sin(2\Omega \tilde{s}) \right).$$

Hence the exponentials in (7.10) and (7.11) become

$$\exp\left(-\frac{i}{4u}\int_{\tilde{s}}^{s}\left(\sum_{j=2,3}\left(k_{j}+A_{j}(s)\right)^{2}+m^{2}\right)ds\right)$$
$$=\exp\left(-\frac{i}{4u}\left(k_{2}^{2}+k_{3}^{2}+\frac{\lambda^{2}}{2}+m^{2}\right)\left(s-\tilde{s}\right)\right)$$
(9.2)

$$\times \left(\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \left(-\frac{ik_2 \lambda}{2\Omega u} \left(\sin(\Omega s) - \sin(\Omega \tilde{s})\right)\right)^n\right)$$
(9.3)

$$\times \left(\sum_{n'=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n'!} \left(-\frac{i\lambda^2}{16\Omega u} \left(\sin(2\Omega s) - \sin(2\Omega \tilde{s})\right)\right)^{n'}\right).$$
(9.4)



FIGURE 3. The Fourier transform of $\mathcal{P}(., \tilde{q})$ for a harmonic plane electromagnetic wave.

Let us explain what these formulas mean. To this end, we fix \tilde{q} and take the Fourier transform of $k_m(q, \tilde{q})$ in the variable q. We again denote the momenta corresponding to l, y and z by u, k_2 , and k_3 , respectively. Then, according to (5.9), the factor $\chi_{-(\infty,0)}(S_m)$ in (6.1) simply gives rise to a factor $-\Theta(-u)$. Moreover, we denote the momentum corresponding to s by v, so that

$$u = \frac{1}{2} \left(\omega + k_1 \right), \qquad v = \frac{1}{2} \left(\omega - k_1 \right).$$

Expanding the trigonometric functions in (9.3) and (9.4) into plane waves, one sees that the momenta v take the discrete values

$$v \in \frac{1}{4u} \left(k_2^2 + k_3^2 + \frac{\lambda^2}{2} + m^2 \right) + \Omega \mathbb{Z} .$$
(9.5)

In the case $\lambda = 0$ when the amplitude of the electromagnetic wave is zero, the first summand gives the usual dispersion relation $4uv = k_2^2 + k_3^2 + m^2$ of the plane-wave solutions of the Dirac equation. This dispersion relation is modified by the plane wave, effectively changing the mass. More importantly, in (9.5) one gets additional momenta where v is modified by multiples of Ω . These additional contributions can be understood from the fact that the plane wave mixes different momenta.

The resulting situation is depicted in Figure 3. One sees that \mathcal{P} does involve contributions of arbitrarily large positive frequency. However, due to the factorials n!and n'! in (9.3) and (9.4), these contributions decay rapidly for large v. This is the reason why the bi-distribution $\mathcal{P}(q, \tilde{q})$ is of Hadamard form.

We finally remark that the sums in (9.3) and (9.4) can be understood as perturbation expansions in the amplitude λ of the harmonic plane wave. Linearly in λ , we recover the usual vacuum polarization as described by Schwinger in [27]. The higher orders in λ in (9.3) and (9.4) can be understood as processes involving multiple photon absorptions and/or emissions.

10. Outlook

This is the first paper where the mass oscillation property is proved for a timedependent external potential in Minkowski space without decay assumptions at infinity. Our methods make essential use of the fact that the external field propagates with the

25

speed of light in a preferred direction. It seems likely that our methods also apply to ppspace-times (see [29, Section 24.5]) or other space-times involving plane gravitational and electromagnetic waves.

Another possible extension is to include an additional potential $\Delta \mathcal{B}$ which does not need to have any symmetries, but which is not too large and has suitable decay properties at infinity. In order to treat such a potential, one takes the fermionic signature operator of Theorem 5.5 as the starting point and treats $\Delta \mathcal{B}$ as a finite perturbation. Indeed, since the fermionic signature operator of Theorem 5.5 has a spectral gap, one could adapt the methods developed in [14] for an external potential in Minkowski space. We expect that the resulting FP state should be again of Hadamard form.

Acknowledgments: We would like to thank Dirk-André Deckert for helpful discussions. We are grateful to the referees for useful suggestions on the manuscript.

References

- H. Araki, On quasifree states of CAR and Bogoliubov automorphisms, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci. 6 (1970/71), 385–442.
- [2] C. Bär and K. Fredenhagen (eds), Quantum Field Theory on Curved Spacetimes, Lecture Notes in Physics, vol. 786, Springer Verlag, Berlin, 2009.
- [3] C. Bär, N. Ginoux, and F. Pfäffle, Wave Equations on Lorentzian Manifolds and Quantization, ESI Lectures in Mathematics and Physics, European Mathematical Society (EMS), Zürich, 2007.
- [4] C. Dappiaggi, T.-P. Hack, and N. Pinamonti, The extended algebra of observables for Dirac fields and the trace anomaly of their stress-energy tensor, arXiv:0904.0612 [math-ph], Rev. Math. Phys. 21 (2009), no. 10, 1241–1312.
- [5] D.-A. Deckert, D. Dürr, F. Merkl, and M. Schottenloher, *Time-evolution of the external field problem in quantum electrodynamics*, arXiv:0906.0046v2 [math-ph], J. Math. Phys. **51** (2010), no. 12, 122301, 28.
- [6] D.-A. Deckert and F. Merkl, External field QED on Cauchy surfaces for varying electromagnetic fields, arXiv:1505.06039 [math-ph], Comm. Math. Phys. 345 (2016), no. 3, 973–1017.
- [7] C.J. Fewster and B. Lang, Pure quasifree states of the Dirac field from the fermionic projector, arXiv:1408.1645 [math-ph], Class. Quantum Grav. 32 (2015), no. 9, 095001, 30.
- [8] C.J. Fewster and R. Verch, The necessity of the Hadamard condition, arXiv:1307.5242 [gr-qc], Class. Quantum Grav. 30 (2013), no. 23.
- H. Fierz and G. Scharf, Particle interpretation for external field problems in QED, Helv. Phys. Acta 52 (1979), no. 4, 437–453.
- F. Finster, Definition of the Dirac sea in the presence of external fields, arXiv:hep-th/9705006, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 2 (1998), no. 5, 963–985.
- [11] _____, Light-cone expansion of the Dirac sea in the presence of chiral and scalar potentials, arXiv:hep-th/9809019, J. Math. Phys. **41** (2000), no. 10, 6689–6746.
- [12] _____, The Continuum Limit of Causal Fermion Systems, arXiv:1605.04742 [math-ph], Fundamental Theories of Physics, vol. 186, Springer, 2016.
- [13] F. Finster and O. Müller, Lorentzian spectral geometry for globally hyperbolic surfaces, arXiv:1411.3578 [math-ph], Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 20 (2016), no. 4, 751–820.
- [14] F. Finster, S. Murro, and C. Röken, The fermionic projector in a time-dependent external potential: Mass oscillation property and Hadamard states, arXiv:1501.05522 [math-ph], J. Math. Phys. 57 (2016), 072303.
- [15] _____, The fermionic signature operator and quantum states in Rindler space-time, arXiv:1606.03882 [math-ph] (2016).
- [16] F. Finster and M. Reintjes, A non-perturbative construction of the fermionic projector on globally hyperbolic manifolds I – Space-times of finite lifetime, arXiv:1301.5420 [math-ph], Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 19 (2015), no. 4, 761–803.

- [17] _____, A non-perturbative construction of the fermionic projector on globally hyperbolic manifolds II Space-times of infinite lifetime, arXiv:1312.7209 [math-ph], to appear in Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. (2016).
- [18] E.S. Fradkin, D.M. Gitman, and Sh.M. Shvartsman, Quantum Electrodynamics with Unstable Vacuum, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1991.
- [19] S. Hollands and R.M. Wald, Quantum fields in curved spacetime, arXiv:1401.2026 [gr-qc], Phys. Rep. 574 (2015), 1–35.
- [20] L. Hörmander, Lectures on Nonlinear Hyperbolic Differential Equations, Mathématiques & Applications (Berlin) [Mathematics & Applications], vol. 26, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1997.
- [21] F. John, Partial Differential Equations, fourth ed., Applied Mathematical Sciences, vol. 1, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1991.
- [22] M. Klaus and G. Scharf, The regular external field problem in quantum electrodynamics, Helv. Phys. Acta 50 (1977), no. 6, 779–802.
- [23] _____, Vacuum polarization in Fock space, Helv. Phys. Acta 50 (1977), no. 6, 803–814.
- [24] K. Rejzner, Perturbative Algebraic Quantum Field Theory, Math. Phys. Stud., Springer, 2016.
- [25] S.N.M. Ruijsenaars, Charged particles in external fields. I. Classical theory, J. Mathematical Phys. 18 (1977), no. 4, 720–737.
- [26] H. Sahlmann and R. Verch, Microlocal spectrum condition and Hadamard form for vector-valued quantum fields in curved spacetime, arXiv:math-ph/0008029, Rev. Math. Phys. 13 (2001), no. 10, 1203–1246.
- [27] J. Schwinger, On gauge invariance and vacuum polarization, Physical Rev. (2) 82 (1951), 664–679.
- [28] D. Shale and W.F. Stinespring, Spinor representations of infinite orthogonal groups, J. Math. Mech. 14 (1965), 315–322.
- [29] H. Stephani, D. Kramer, M. MacCallum, C. Hoenselaers, and E. Herlt, *Exact solutions of Ein-stein's field equations*, second ed., Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2003.
- [30] J.-H. Treude, Estimates of Massive Dirac Wave Functions near Null Infinity, Dissertation, Universität Regensburg, http://epub.uni-regensburg.de/32344/, 2015.
- [31] D.M. Volkow, Über eine Klasse von Lösungen der Diracschen Gleichung, Z. Physik 94 (1935), 250–260.
- [32] R.M. Wald, Quantum Field Theory in Curved Spacetime and Black Hole Thermodynamics, Chicago Lectures in Physics, University of Chicago Press, Chicago, IL, 1994.

FAKULTÄT FÜR MATHEMATIK, UNIVERSITÄT REGENSBURG, D-93040 REGENSBURG, GERMANY *E-mail address*: finster@ur.de

IMPA - INSTITUTO NACIONAL DE MATEMÁTICA PURA E APLICADA, RIO DE JANEIRO, BRASIL *E-mail address:* moritzreintjes@gmail.com